IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

SANDRA K. LAMMEY (CONNELLY)

APPELLANT

V.

DOCKET NO.: 2006-CA-02093

DAVIN HOWELL LAMMEY

APPELLEE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF DESOTO COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED



283 Losher Street P.O. Box 443 Hernando, MS 38632-0443 662-429-4411 telephone 662-429-8251 telefax Attorney for Appellant

Gerald W. Chatham, Sr., MSB# Chatham Damare' Pittman, PLLC 291 Losher Street Hernando, MS 38632 662-429-9871 telephone 662-429-0242 telefax Co-Counsel for Appellant

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

SANDRA K. LAMMEY (CONNELLY)

APPELLANT

V.

DOCKET NO.: 2006-CA-02093

DAVIN HOWELL LAMMEY

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The issues presented by the Appellant in this appeal are:

ISSUE I: The Chancellor erred in his findings that there had been a material

and substantial change in circumstances of the parties that adversely affected the best interest

and welfare of the minor children prior to analyzing whether a change of custody was warranted.

ISSUE II: The evidence does not support the Chancellor's finding that the

best interests of the minor children would best be served a change in custody.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case and Proceedings :

This appears to stem from the decision of the Chancery Court of DeSoto County, Mississippi, which modified child custody of the parties' two minor children from the Appellant, Sandra K. Lammey (Connelly), to the Appellee , Davin Howell Lammey. The Opinion of the Chancellor granting the modification of child custody being rendered from the bench on October 12, 2006, and the Order being entered by the Court on November 14, 2006 recorded in Chancery Court Minute Book 428, Page 437 of the Official Chancery Court Minutes of DeSoto County, Mississippi. (CP II:183). A Motion for Reconsideration or to Alter or Amend the Judgment being filed by the Appellant. (CP I:111). A Motion to Amend Judgment filed by the Appellant. (CP II:177). Order Overruling Motion for Consideration or To Alter or Amend Judgment being entered on the 15th day of November, 2006 in Chancery Court Minute Book 428, Page 767 of the Official Chancery Court Minutes of DeSoto County, Mississippi . (CP II:204).

The background of the parties and their children is that the parties were divorced by a Judgment of Divorce entered in the Chancery Court of DeSoto County, Mississippi on the 8th day of April , 1998 recorded in Chancery Court Minute Book 244, Page 406 of the Official Chancery Court minutes of DeSoto County, Mississippi . The Judgment of Divorce contained the following provision :

"Further, Wife shall not move more than 100 miles away from her present residence without either Husband's consent or first obtaining a Court Order allowing such move. However, if wife does not seek such an order then Husband is not precluded from seeking custody of the children. Further if Husband moves more than 100 miles from his present residence then the restriction placed upon Wife's place of residence shall no longer exist"

On May 6, 2005, the Appellant filed a Petition for Modification requesting the Court permission to permit her to move more than 100 miles from her present residence to Las Vegas, Nevada. A Counter-Petition for Modification was filed by the Appellee requesting the custody of both of the parties' children on the 25th day of May 2005. An Order was entered by the Court on the 5th day of July 2005 Striking Mileage Restriction from Decree of Divorce recorded in Chancery Court Minute Book 392, Page 456 of the Official Chancery Court Minutes of DeSoto County, Mississippi. A Petition to Cite for Contempt was filed by the Appellee on the 12th day of September, 2005. A Temporary Order was entered by the Court on the 22nd day of September, 2005, recorded in Chancery Court Minute Book 397, Page 771 in the Official Chancery Court Minutes of DeSoto County, Mississippi. A Petition to Cite for Contempt was filed by the Appellant on the 12th day of October, 2005. A Second Petition to Cite for Contempt was filed by the Appellant on January 25, 2006. An Answer to Petition to Cite for Contempt and Counter-Petition for Contempt was filed by the Appellee on February 3, 2006. A Petition to Cite for Contempt was filed by the Appellee on May 17, 2006. An Administrative Order setting cause for trial on August 16, 2006 was entered by the Court on May 30, 2006.

The Case was heard on August 16th, 2006, and fully litigated by the parties. The Court entered an Opinion on October 21, 2006 modifying child custody from the Appellant to Appellee. (RE 14-32; CP II: 185-203). The Order being entered on November 14, 2006. (CP II: 183-203; RE 33-53).

Subsequent thereto, the Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration or to Alter or Amend being overruled by the Court entered on the 15th day of November, 2006 in Chancery Court Minute Book 428, Page 767 of the Official Chancery Court Minutes of DeSoto County, Mississippi . (CP II:204) On December 6th, 2006, Appellant, Sandra K. Lammey (Connelly), filed a timely Notice of Appeal by which she asserted error on the part of the Chancery Court. (CP II:206).¹

FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Sandra K.Lammey (Connelly), hereinafter called "Sandy" and Appellee, Davin Howell Lammey, hereinafter called "Davin" were married to each other twice. The first marriage was consummated on July 6, 1991, and one child was born of that marriage, namely: Dean Howell Lammey, a male child born April 3rd, 1992. The first marriage ended in divorce with Judgment having been entered on June 21, 1993. The parties then remarried on December 19, 1994 in Shelby County, Tennessee. One child was born of the second marriage, namely: Matthew Cross Lammey, a male child born December 12th, 1995. The parties were then again divorced by a Judgment of Divorce entered on the 8th day of September, 1998 in the Chancery Court of DeSoto County, Mississippi.

That contained in the Judgment of Divorce was a provision that provided as follows, towit:

"Further, Wife shall not move more than 100 miles away from her present residence without either Husband's consent or first obtaining a Court Order allowing such move. However, if wife does not seek such an order then Husband is not precluded from seeking custody of the children. Further if Husband moves more than 100 miles from his present residence then the restriction placed upon Wife's place of residence shall no longer exist"

That the Appellant, Sandra K.Lammey (Connelly), was informed by her employer that it was shutting down or going out of business and she was to lose her job. Sandy made diligent search and inquiry in the Memphis area to find suitable employment and she was unable to do so.

1 "T references are to pages of the transcript . CP are references to Clerk's Papers. RE is for Record Excerpts. The Volume Number should also be given, i.e. (T 6:115; CP 2:120)."

1

That both of her parents and the maternal grandparents both lived in Las Vegas, Nevada, and that she had a house to live in Las Vegas, and had been promised suitable employment.

Appellant, Sandra K.Lammey (Connelly), filed a Petition for Modification with the Court requesting permission to move more than 100 miles away with the children, and asked the court to modify or adjust visitation as well as make orders adjusting child support, visitation, etc as equity would find fair and appropriate.

Appellee, Davin Howell Lammey, filed a Counter-Petition for Modification, asserting the provisions of the Judgment of Divorce, asking for child custody to be modified and that he be awarded child custody and support from the Appellant, Sandra K. Lammey (Connelly). In the Judgment of Divorce the Appellant, Sandra K. Lammey (Connelly), was awarded the physical custody of the parties' minor children, namely Dean Howell Lammey, a male child born April 3rd, 1992 and Matthew Cross Lammey, a male child born December 12th, 1995.

On June 29, 2005 the Appellant, Sandra K. Lammey (Connelly), filed a Motion to Allow her to move. An Order was entered by the Court Allowing Psychological Custody Evaluation of the children by the Court on July 5, 2005. Also, entered on that same day was an Order Striking Mileage Restriction from the Decree of Divorce. The Court finding that the provision was unconstitutional.

On July 5, 2005 an Order was entered by the Court Allowing a Psychological Custody Evaluation of the parties' children by Dr. L.D. Hutt, Clinical Psychologist.

The Appellant, Sandra K. Lammey (Connelly), and the parties' minor children moved to Las Vegas, Nevada on August 8, 2005, and notified the Appellee, Davin Howell Lammey, of their change of address pursuant to Rule 8.06 of the Mississippi Uniform Chancery Court Rules. On the 12th day of September, 2005, which was little over a month after the Appellant and the parties' children had moved to Las Vegas, Nevada to live with the maternal grandparents, the Appellee filed a Petition for Contempt alleging therein that the Appellant had interfered with his visitation rights with the children.

On September 22, 2005, a Temporary Order was entered by the Court setting forth the manner and method of calls from the Appellee to the parties' children, and defining visitation on the part of the Appellee with the children.

On the 12th day of October, 2005, the Appellant filed a Petition to Cite for Contempt against the Appellee alleging that he should be cited for contempt for violation of the Temporary Order regarding calls to the children, and letters from the paternal grandfather to the children.

On January 25, 2006, a Second Petition to Cite for Contempt was filed by the Appellant against the Appellee, concerning derogatory remarks in violation of the Court's Order make by the Appellee to the parties' children over the telephone.

On the 3rd day of February, 2006, an Answer to Petition for Contempt and Counter-Petition for Contempt was filed by the Appellee against the Appellant, alleging that the Appellant interfered with the telephone conversations between the children and Appellee.

On May 8th, 2006, the Appellant filed a Notice of Change of Address of Children pursuant to Rule 8.06 of the Mississippi Uniform Rules of Chancery Court Practice notifying the Appellee of the change of address of the children.

On May 9, 2006, Appellant filed a Motion to Suspend Telephone Visitation between the Appellee and the parties' children alleging that he continued to berate the mother in his telephone conversations with the children in violation of the Court's previous Order.

On May 17, 2006, the Appellee filed a Petition to Cite the Appellant for Contempt of Court that the Appellant was interfering with his phone visitation rights with the children.

This cause was set for trial on August 16, 2006 in the Chancery Court of DeSoto County, Mississippi for a one day trial.

On August 7, 2006 the Appellee filed a child's preference affidavit from the parties' oldest child, Dean Lammey.

The Trial was commenced on August 16, 2007 before Chancellor Lundy.

Davin went first in this trial on his petitions and called a total of six witnesses. Sandy called a total of five witnesses. The following witnesses were called by Davin and a brief synopsis of their testimony is presented as follows, to wit;

Dr. Lenley David Hutt, Jr. (T I:8-46).

Dr. Hutt testified as follows :

That he was a a licensed psychologist, who had performed a custody evaluation pursuant to Court Order. That Davin was required to pay Dr. Hutt for these services. Dr Hutt opined that both parents were fit persons to have the care, custody and control of the minor children and spent most of his time advising the Court that both boys were upset with their mother because of her not telling them that they were moving to Las Vegas until shortly before they were to leave. Dr. Hutt depicted Sandy as aloof, distant, rigid and opinionated. He further testified that she tends to react with self-indignation and makes exaggerated complaints that she has been wronged. She tends to project and externalize blame. She has difficulty accepting responsibility for her problems and tends to blame others. He testified further that there were significant indications of a paranoid predisposition. He made no findings in his evaluation that raised any questions about the prudence of the boys assuming full primary residential time with their father and having appropriate physical visitation and other contact with the mother. It should be noted that later in the trial the people that have known Sandy for the last ten years all testified that they did not agree with the opinions of Dr. Hutt concerning Sandy.

Davin Howell Lammey hereinafter call Davin, the Appellee . (TI:46-97).

Davin testified as follows:

He gave the history of the couple's marriage and that Sandy had told him before that she intended to move to Las Vegas. Once the parties reconciled she dropped those plans

Davin further testified that he is on deployment now with the Air National Guard and stated that some time in the future he is going to be retired from the Air National Guard. He was very vague about the issue. The net upshot of Davin's testimony is that he misses his boys and wants to spend more time with them. However, the children have been gone for over one year and he has made no efforts to visit them in Las Vegas even though he has the capability of making those visits, but has chosen not to schedule them. Davin did not bring forward any evidence that shows that there has been a material change in circumstances adversely affecting the best interests of the children. His only issue is that his former wife has moved and taken the boys with her. Other than the move itself he offered no evidence for which the Court could warrant a change of custody. Davin showed an adjusted gross income of \$54,433.32 making child support due \$886.00 per month. He currently paid \$735.00 per month.

Cullen Cross Lammey, the paternal grandfather of the children. (TI:97-126).

Cullen Cross Lammey testified as follows:

He admitted to sending the cards introduced as Exhibit "6" to the minor children of this marriage. These cards again serve as examples of the disdain and contempt that Davin and his relatives have for Sandy in violation of this Court's Orders. Making reference to "low lifes in Sin

City" was another attempt to poison the minds of the children against where their mother has moved. Insinuating that the grandparents in Las Vegas and other relatives don't love and respect the two boys is clearly communications that are not in the best interests of the children. Referring to themselves as true relatives insinuating that because Sandy is adopted that the grandparents, aunts and uncles and cousins in Las Vegas are not true relatives, again attempting to undermine the love and affection that these people have for the children and is clearly not in the best interest of the children. The Court had found these type of communications to be derogatory remarks and specifically entered an Order against this type of communication and language. Davin and his family should both be held in contempt.

Earl Doherty, a friend. (T I:126-133).

Earl Doherty testified as follows:

He testified testified that Davin did things with the children.

Kerri Lammey, wife of Davin and stepmother of the children. (T I:133-150; T II:151-158).

Kerri Lammey testified as follows:

That she admitted to calling Sandy and telling her that she had trust issues with Davin. She has two other children by a previous marriage in the home and that they all get along very well. She testified she knew Davin moved around a lot as a child and admitted that she had moved a lot. She also screamed and yelled at Sandy in front of the children at a ball game.

Dean Howell Lammey, the parties' oldest son, who testified in Chambers. (T II:158-173).

Dean Howell Lammey testified as follows:

The parties' eldest child, Dean Lammey, was questioned by the Court in Chambers and the Court ruled that the child knew the difference between right and wrong and could testify. Dean Lammey's sole purpose for testifying was to testify that he wanted to live with his father and that he was upset with his mother for not telling him about the move to Las Vegas. He also testified he had lots of friends in Las Vegas and was doing well in school and had lots of awards in sports and math.

The Appellant, Sandra K. Lammey (Connelly), hereinafter called Sandy, called five witnesses and a brief synopsis of their testimony is presented as follows, to wit:

Rosemary Hajostek, a family friend. (T II:173-188).

Rosemary Hajostek, testified as follows:

She had known the Lammey family since Dean was two years old. She lived next door and testified concerning the activities and the involvement of Sandy in the lives of her children. She testified that Davin was gone most of the time during the marriage either with his job at Fed Ex or in the Air National Guard. She testified that Sandy was the one that provided the stable home environment and took the children to church. She further testified about the incident at Sandy's home when the children returned from summer time visitation in 2005. She testified about Davin calling Sandy names in font of the children and that the grandfather, Cullen Lammey, also called her names and Kerri, Davin's wife, calling the entire group assembled, a bunch of "church freaks". She also testified she called the police.

Cynthia Wiseman, a family friend . (T II:188-213).

Cynthia Wiseman testified as follows:

Ms. Wiseman told the Court about how long she had known the Lammey family. She testified that she had known the family since Dean was five years old. She testified that they met at a ball field when Dean was five and how she and Sandy talked on the phone a lot. Her children and the Lammey children played sports together all of these years. Every other weekend

they would get together at each other's home. She further testified that Davin was an absent parent and that Sandy was the primary responsible parent. She testified that Davin's mental health was questionable and that Sandy had high morals and was a Christian person. She testified that Sandy was a moral person and that Davin had committed immoral acts at the baseball field in the presence of the children by kissing and hugging on other women. She testified that Sandy provided a stable home environment and that she has always had stable employment. Ms. Wiseman further testified that the report and testimony by Dr. Hutt was not an accurate description of Sandy Connelly. When asked if she agreed or disagreed with Dr. Hutt's report that showed Sandy as a aloof, distant, rigid and opinionated, she said that she disagreed. Further, when asked if she agreed or disagreed or if it was accurate in Hutt's report where he describes Sandy as self-righteous, making exaggerated complaints and tends to blame others for her own problems, Ms. Wiseman testified that it was totally inaccurate. When further asked that Hutt's report had stated that Sandy was of a paranoid disposition, Ms. Wiseman said that was totally inaccurate and she disagreed completely with that report.

Ms. Wiseman corroborated the incident testified to by Mrs. Hajostek when the police were called and stated she heard Cullen Lammey call Sandy Connelly a "cunt" as well as other names. She also testified that Kerri called all of them "church freaks".

Terry (sic) Terri Gowen, a family friend. (T II:213-229).

Terry (sic) Terri Gowen testified as follows:

She met Sandy ten years ago when she moved in next door and that the families had been close ever since. In 2003, she moved down the street but the families remained close until Sandy moved to Las Vegas. She was in Sandy's house or yard daily until the move. She testified that Sandy had been the primary care giver and was the parent that took the children to and from all

of their activities including church, etc. She further testified that Davin was an absent parent who worked at Fed Ex and in the Guard. He was always away on one of these trips by his own choice. Davin was very self-centered and all about Davin. She never saw Davin do anything that the children wanted to do or what needed to be done. Davin did all the fun stuff with the kids and Sandy was left with the responsibility of rearing the children. She testified that Sandy was always sacrificing for her children and her children were foremost and first with her. Terri Gowen further testified that the report and testimony by Dr. Hutt was not an accurate description of Sandy Connelly. When asked if she agreed or disagreed with Dr. Hutt's report that showed Sandy as a aloof, distant, rigid and opinionated, she said that she disagreed. Further, when asked if she agreed or disagreed or if it was accurate in Hutt's report where he describes Sandy as selfrighteous, making exaggerated complaints and tends to blarne others for her own problems, Ms. Gowen testified that it was totally inaccurate. When further asked that Hutt's report had stated that Sandy was of a paranoid disposition, Ms Gowen said that was totally inaccurate and she disagreed completely with that report.

Laura Connelly, mother of Sandy and maternal grandmother of the children . (T II:229-242).

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