IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

SANDRA K. (LAMMEY) CONNELLY

APPELLANT

V.

No. 2006-CA-02093

DAVIN HOWELL LAMMEY

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

(ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED)

Appeal from the Chancery Court of DeSoto County, Mississippi

Martin Zummach, BPR SPARKMAN-ZUMMACH, P.C. 7125 Getwell Road, Suite 201 P.O. Box 266 Southaven, MS 38671 (662) 349-6900

JONES & SCHNELLER, PLLC 126 No. Spring Street P.O. Box 417 Holly Springs, Mississippi 38635

(662) 252-3224/

Peggy A. Jones, BPR# 3223

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

SANDRA K. (LAMMEY) CONNELLY

APPELLANT

V.

No. 2006-CA-02093

DAVIN HOWELL LAMMEY

APPELLEE

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

In her brief, Sandra makes light of the facts that her sons were traumatized by her decision to uproot them from the life that they had always known and that they remain unhappy, even after over a year in Las Vegas. She argues that this is just a normal reaction to a move. Perhaps, if these children were still six and two years old, (their ages at the time of the last custody decree), her argument would have greater weight. However, it ignores several facts. These are not small children who have yet to have developed ties with their community. A clinical psychologist testified that both boys, not just Dean, are unhappy, remain mentally and emotionally devastated and "desperately" want the influence of their father in their lives. Is their happiness of such little or no consequence? Does not their happiness necessarily impact their mental and emotional health and well-being? Given the passage of almost a year in Las Vegas, what evidence was offered that the situation was likely to improve?

In support of her argument that the evidence was insufficient to support a conclusion that a material change in circumstances had occurred which adversely affected the children, Sandra cites the cases of *Thompson v. Thompson*, 799 So. 2d 919 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) and *Bredemeier v. Jackson*, 689 So. 2d 770 (Miss. 1997)²⁴ Except to the extent that these cases are authority for the legal proposition that the party seeking a change in custody has the burden of proof, these cases are not factually or legally supportive of Sandra's position. Both cases affirmed the

²⁴ Appellant's Brief, p. 24

chancellor's findings and decisions. In *Breidemeier*, (involving joint legal and physical custody), the chancellor's decision that a material change had occurred was affirmed. In *Thompson*, the chancellor's decision that such a material change had not occurred was affirmed. In the case at bar, the chancellor's decision should also be affirmed.

The rule is that "Unless the evidence demands a finding contrary to the chancellor's decision, this Court will not disturb a custody ruling." Copeland v. Copeland, 904 so. 2d 1066, 1074 (Miss. 2004) (Emphasis supplied)

Sandra also cites the cases of *Morrow v. Morrow*, 591 So. 2d 829 (Miss. 1991) and *Ballard v. Ballard*, 434 So. 2d 1357 (Miss. 1983), asserting that "only parental behavior that poses a clear danger to the child's mental or emotional health can justify a custody change." When taken out of context, as this quote is, the conclusion is that there can never be a custody change in any case unless the grounds for changing are allegations of parental abuse. Such is not the holdings of these cases. Both of these cases deal with the issue of what conduct or behavior of parents is sufficient grounds (alone) for changing or denying physical custody to a parent. In *Morrow*, the chancellor's refusal to modify custody based upon a mother's improper sexual activity was affirmed. In *Ballard*, a chancellor

²⁵ Appellant's Brief, p. 25

awarded a change of custody to the father on the grounds that the mother had engaged in immoral activity by having an overnight guest in her home, with the child present, on three occasions. He did so with strong reservations because he found that the child had been very well cared for by his mother since birth. Our Supreme Court reversed and rendered, restoring the custody of the child to the mother, pointing out that the conduct in question was insufficient grounds for changing custody because "(I)t is only that behavior of a parent which clearly posits or causes danger to the mental or emotional well-being of a child...which is sufficient basis to seriously consider the drastic legal action of changing custody." Id. 360

In other words, the *Morrow* and *Ballard* cases deal with an entirely different issue than what is presented by the case at bar. In the case at bar, the conduct or behavior of the parent is not the basis upon which modification of prior custody decree was sought. The cases have no application or relevance to the case at bar.

The only issue before this Court is whether the chancellor's conclusions are supported by the record. On appeal, the findings of a chancellor will not be disturbed when supported by substantial evidence "...unless the chancellor abused

his discretion, applied an erroneous legal standard, was manifestly wrong, or was clearly erroneous". *Spain v. Holland*, 483 So. 2d 318 (Miss. 1986) Stated differently, does the evidence in this case, involving a custody ruling, demand a finding contrary to the chancellor's decision? *Copeland, supra*. It is respectfully submitted that it does not.

PROPOSITION II

Substantial evidence supports chancellor's analysis of *Albright* factors and conclusion that best interests of children required a change of paramount physical custody.

Having found the requisite material change of circumstances adversely affecting the best interests and welfare of the children, the chancellor undertook an "on the record" *Albright* analysis of the facts to determine whether a change of paramount physical custody was in the best interests of the children. His conclusions are amply supported by the evidence.

The *Albright* factors, in abbreviated form, and following Sandra's restatement of them²⁶, are:

²⁶ Appellant's Brief, 26-28

- #1. Health, Sex and Age of the children.
- #2. Continuity of care
- #3. Parenting skills
- #4. Willingness and capacity to provide primary care
- #5. Employment of parents and the responsibilities of that employment
- #6. Physical and mental health of parents
- #7. Age of parents
- #8. Existing emotional ties
- #9. Moral fitness
- #10. Home, school and community record of children
- #11. Preference and desire of child
- #12. Stability of home environment and employment
- #13. Other factors relevant to the parent-child relationship.

NEUTRAL FACTORS

The chancellor found the following four(4) factors to be either neutral or favoring neither party over the other: (#3) Parenting skills; (#4) Willingness and capacity to provide primary care; (#6) Physical and mental health of the parents

(#9) moral fitness.

#3 Parenting skills

In her brief, Sandra challenges only one of these findings. It is claimed that #3, the "best parenting skills" factor should have favored her because she " ... had raised the children since birth and that Davin was gone a lot of the times with the military and other matters before and after the periods that the parties were married."²⁷

There is no question but that Sandra has had the paramount physical custody of the children after each divorce. The chancellor credited the "continuity of care" factor to Sandra, because of this.²⁸ Parenting skills and who has, in fact, had paramount physical custody are different considerations.

The record in this case reflects that Davin is a good father. Even Sandra admitted this to be the case.²⁹ He did and does all the things a father usually does with his children. The record also reflects that Davin loves his children and is involved in their activities and interests. Given the boys' predisposition toward outdoor activity, hunting and fishing, and their approaching young adult manhood,

²⁷ Appellant's Brief, p 26

²⁸ T III: 346

²⁹ Exhibit 19, Deposition of Sandra Connelly, pgs. 30-31

one could argue that Davin's skills in this are superior to Sandra's. Nevertheless, the chancellor found that neither party's skills in this arena were superior to the other's. The evidence supports this conclusion.

FACTORS FAVORING SANDRA:

The chancellor found the following factors to favor Sandra:

- (#2) Continuity of care
- (#3) Employment and responsibilities of that employemnt

FACTORS FAVORING DAVIN:

- (#1) Health, sex and age of children
- (#8) Emotional ties
- (#10) Home, school and community record of the child
- (#11) Preference of the child at the age sufficient to express a preference by law
- (#12) Stability of the home environment

Sandra takes issue with all of the above findings of the chancellor in favor of Davin, except his finding as to the sex and age of the children being in Davin's favor.³⁰ Discussion of her argument follows.

³⁰Appellant's Brief, p 26-28

8 Emotional ties: It is argued that the chancellor erroneously based his conclusion that this factor favored Davin based upon the "testimony of the children" since only one of the children actually testified. It is true that only Dean actually testified. The evidence in this case was that both boys' mental and emotional health and well-being were and continued to be adversely affected by the move to Las Vegas. Their mother did not consider their feelings to be relevant to her decision to uproot them. She did not prepare them for the move and even up to the day of trial and after a year in Las Vegas, she had not explained to them in a way they could understand why all of their best interests required the move. The boys remained bewildered and resentful of their mother's actions.

Dr. Hutt testified that both boys had very strong ties to their father and "desperately" wanted to be with him. The record is devoid of any evidence that the boys' emotional ties to their mother exceeded that of their ties to their father. The exact words of the chancellor were: "The emotional ties of the parent and the child, favors Mr. Lammey, based upon the testimony of the children." ³¹ One can argue the use of the "plural" vs. the "singular"; but, the meaning of the chancellor's statement is clear. He concluded, based upon all of the evidence, that the boys' emotional ties with their father were strong and that this factor

³¹T 349

supported his decision to place physical custody with Davin. The argument that "only one boy " actually testified is sophistry.

10 Home, school and community record of the children

The record clearly supports the chancellor's conclusion that this factor favored Davin. De Soto County, Mississippi is where these children were reared. They have deep roots in the community. They have family, friends, school and extra-curricula activities and involvements that are significant to and for them. The fact that they were unhappy in Las Vegas/ a year testifies to this as much as anything. There is scant evidence of their home and school life in Las Vegas. There is evidence that Dean did not enjoy the gang atmosphere at his school and restrictions on the very color of the clothes he could wear. There is no evidence of the children being involved in their community or having made the strong friendships and relationships they have forged in DeSoto County.

The chancellor was imminently correct in his conclusion that this factor favored Davin. Sandra's argument that Davin did not make a special trip 1500 miles away to Las Vegas has no relevance to this factor. He had and exercised his visitation with his sons in accordance with the Court's order.

#11 Preference of child

Our statutory and case law requires that a fourteen (14) year old child's preference be considered by a chancellor. § 93-11-65, Miss. Code of 1972, as amended; *Bell v. Bell* 572 So.2d 841 (Miss. 1990)

Dean Lammey testified that his preference was to live with his father. Dean was well above the age of twelve, when our statute gives the chancellor authority to consider a child's preference "in determining what would be in the best interest and welfare of the child." § 93-11-65, Miss. Code of 1972, as amended

In addition to testifying that both boys desperately wanted their father in their lives, Dr. Hutt testified that both children were "highly motivated" to return home to Mississippi. He described both boys as "articulate" and "very bright".³²

The chancellor can not be faulted or placed in error for finding this factor to "favor" Davin. No issue is taken with Sandra's statement of the law that the chancellor is not required to follow the child's stated preference.³³ The chancellor's decision in this case nowhere reflects (as suggested by Sandra's brief) that he felt compelled to follow the children's stated preference. He merely concluded that this particular *Albright* factor favored Davin. For him to have concluded otherwise would have been contrary to the overwhelming weight of the

³²T 27, 42

³³Appellant's Brief, p. 27

evidence.

#12 Stability of home environment and employment of each parent

It is the <u>stability</u> of the home environment—not just the environment—that is at the crux of this factor, together with the stability of the employment of each parent. The chancellor found that "obviously" these factors favored Davin who has lived in the "same location for many years" and "maintained the same employment for many years." In her brief, Sandra complains that there was no "evidence whatsoever that the home environment of Sandy was detrimental to either of the children." ³⁴

This suggestion misinterprets the meaning of this factor. Stability is the key word. Sandra first went to live in her parents' home but then bought a house and moved out of her parent's home. She has had two different jobs since leaving DeSoto County. She has a mortgage which the chancellor found to be unaffordable by her, based upon her earnings. On the other hand, Davin (and Sandra, until she moved) has lived in Desoto County since 1992, shortly after the

³⁴ Ibid. p. 29

birth of Dean, in the same house for the last 6 years.³⁵ He has been employed first in the armed services and for the last several years as an aircraft mechanic, with Federal Express, earning in excess of \$75,000 per year.³⁶ The paternal grandfather who has been a care-giver and very significant "player" in the life of the children, from the time of their births, lives in close proximity. Davin and a friend, who also has two sons, own 120 acres and a cabin in Abbeyville, Mississippi, where the boys enjoy hunting, fishing and socializing with their peers. The home environment provided by Davin in DeSoto County, is stable. It provides these two young men with that sense of stability and security that is so vital to them and their development at this time of their lives. It explains, in large part, their desire to live with their father.

Other factors relevant to the parent-child relationship.

Sandra asserts that the chancellor did not take into consideration his finding that Davin was in contempt of court when he (the chancellor) considered this factor. With all due respect, this is an inaccurate assertion. The chancellor

³⁵ CP I: 91

³⁶ T I: 47,57

specifically stated, in his opinion:

"...Mr. Lammey is in contempt for making derogatory remarks concerning the children's mother... The Court thought about this when deciding whether or not to change custody of the minor children, but to deny change of custody because of the father's remarks would be to hurt the boys because of something they had no control over."³⁷

This is clearly consistent with precedent. Decisions regarding custody "... should never be made for the purpose of rewarding one parent or punishing the other."

Tucker v. Tucker, 453 So. 2d 1291, 1297 (Miss. 1984) Where the relief granted is "for the benefit of the parties' minor children" there is "...no reason to penalize the children..." for one parent's failure to abide by a judgment of the court. Jurney v.

Jurney, 921 So. 2d 372, 377 (Miss. App. 2005)

It is important to note, also, that immediately after the conclusion of the presentation of all of the evidence in this case, the chancellor made the following statement:

Without a doubt, no question, that both parties have been a part of contempt of court several times. Contempt of what they agreed upon, contempt of what the orders of this Court.(sic) And I've seen it time and time again, this is probably a little bit worse of tit for tat than I've seen in a while. And it kind of gets out of hand, and it might even get

³⁷ T II:199, Excerpts 49

trivial at some time, and I think it has in this case.³⁸

To the extent that Sandra's argument in this regard may be interpreted as raising the doctrine of "unclean hands", it is submitted that this issue was not raised during trial nor has it been directly raised on appeal. Accordingly, it is waived.

Crowe v. Smith, 603 So.2d 301 (Miss. 1992); Jurney v. Jurney, supra.

Moreover, as a "factor" to be considered by the chancellor, it was duly considered and rejected by him as a reason to deny a change of custody.

Matters of contempt are within the broad discretionary powers of the court both as to adjudication and penalties. *Lahmann v. Hallmon*, 722 So.2d 614 (Miss. 1998); *Ellis v. Ellis*, 840 So.2d 806 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) In the case at bar, the chancellor did not abuse his discretion in concluding that the nature, extent and magnitude of the contempt was of insufficient significance to justify denial of a change in custody that he had concluded was in the best interests of the two children.

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